# POST-UGI TRANSFORMATION OF *N*-SUBSTITUTED-2-ALKYNEAMIDES FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF DIVERSE HETEROCYCLIC SCAFFOLDS

DOI: http://dx.medra.org/10.17374/targets.2019.22.468

Saeed Balalaie<sup>*a,b\**</sup>, Pegah Shakeri<sup>*a*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Peptide Chemistry Research Center, K. N. Toosi University of Technology, P. O. Box 15875-4416,

Tehran, Iran

<sup>b</sup>Medical Biology Research Center, Kermanshah University of Medical Sciences, Kermanshah, Iran (e-mail: balalaie@kntu.ac.ir)

**Abstract.** Post-Ugi transformation reactions are well known to form molecular complexity, fused heterocyclic backbones. Existence of alkyne moiety in the structure of Ugi-4CR products allows post condensation cyclizations establishing carbon-carbon bonds by means of metal-catalyzed reactions or metal-free reactions. Synthesis of different heterocyclic backbones such as 2-oxindoles and spiroindolines can be constructed based on alkyne cyclization of post-Ugi reaction.

### Contents

1. Introduction

- 2. Synthesis of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides through Ugi four-component reaction (Ugi-4CR)
- 3. Post-Ugi transformation reaction based on N-substituted-2-alkyneamides
- 4. Metal-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of N-substituted-2-alkyneamides
- 4.1. Pd-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides
- 4.2. Six-component reaction for the stereoselective synthesis of 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles *via* sequential Ugi/Heck carbocyclization/Sonogashira/nucleophilic addition
- 4.3. Sequential Ugi-4CR/C-H activation using (diacetoxyiodo)benzene for the synthesis of 3-(diphenylmethylidene)-2,3-dihydro-1*H*-indol-2-ones
- 5. Au-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides
- 6. Metal-free post-Ugi transformation of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides to access heterocycles
- 6.1. Post-Ugi transformation through radical formation
- 6.2. Metal-free synthesis of fused triazolodiazepino[5,6-*b*]quinolone derivatives *via* a sequential Ugi-4CR/nucleophilic substitution/intramolecular click reaction
- 7. Conclusion

Acknowledgement

# References

### 1. Introduction

The alkyne moiety is one of the most important functional groups in organic chemistry, and could be involved in a variety of cascade cyclization reactions.<sup>1</sup> The selection of a functionalized alkyne is an efficient approach for the synthesis of heterocycles and also multifunctional compounds. Cyclization of alkynes could be done through  $\pi$ -activation with metal salts or formation of the desired metal acetylide.<sup>2</sup>

The Ugi four-component reaction (Ugi-4CR) has been widely explored because of its high bond-forming efficiency, simple and mild reaction conditions.<sup>3</sup> The combination of established Ugi-4CR with post-transformational reactions has become a useful tool for generating complex and diverse molecular libraries with novel properties. Thus a logical extension is to use post-transformational reactions through the deployment of secondary functional groups in the initial starting materials.<sup>4</sup> To have an ideally proceeding one-pot sequential transformation, existence of other active functional groups is necessary.<sup>5</sup> Post-Ugi transformations showed high potential in the synthesis of complex molecules such as functionalized  $\beta$ -lactams<sup>6a</sup> and benzoindolizidine alkaloids,<sup>6b</sup> such as compound **1** in Figure 1. In this personal account our endeavors in the area of post-Ugi transformation reactions of *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides to access diverse heterocyclic skeletons are summarized.



### 2. Synthesis of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides through Ugi-4CR

The Ugi-4CR reaction is one of the most versatile and robust multicomponent reaction. The typical Ugi reaction utilizes an aldehyde, a primary amine, a carboxylic acid, and an isocyanide affording a pseudopeptide (Scheme 1).<sup>7</sup>



Scheme 1. The Ugi-4CR to access pseudopeptides.

*N*-Substituted-2-alkynamides have proved to be valuable building blocks in organic synthesis. *N*-Substituted-2-alkyneamides could be synthesized through the amidation reaction of primary amines and propiolic acid derivatives.<sup>8</sup> To increase the molecular diversity and molecular complexity of the product and also carrying out the post-Ugi transformation, the strategy of single reactant replacement was selected. To access the functionalized Ugi-4CR product, Ugi-4CR was done using the functionalized starting materials (Scheme 2).



Scheme 2. Synthesis of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides.

Nucleophilic addition to activated alkynes has naturally attracted the attention of synthetic chemists and has led to the synthesis of medicinally relevant intermediates. Due to existence of alkyne moiety in the structure of *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides, carrying out the sequential one-pot Ugi/nucleophilic addition reactions based on 5-component condensation (5-CC) and 6-component condensation (6-CC) for the synthesis of highly functionalized enaminones and dithiocarbamates. Addition of secondary amines,<sup>9</sup> primary alcohols, phenols,<sup>10</sup> dithiocarbamates,<sup>11</sup> and hydrazides<sup>12</sup> to the Ugi-4CR products of *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides were investigated.

469

### 3. Post-Ugi transformation reaction based on N-substituted-2-alkyneamides

The change of the partners in Ugi-4CR is an attractive strategy for the discovery of new reactions and reactivity with interesting molecular scaffolds. Therefore, some carboxylic acids and the functionalized amines, isocyanides and benzaldehyde derivatives could be selected as reactants for the one-pot reaction. Further possibilities emerge when the various substituents of the primary Ugi-product are involved in additional reactions, *e.g.* Knoevenagel condensations or Diels-Alder cycloadditions with activated double or triple bonds.<sup>13</sup>

Based on these changes, the functionalized *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides have some different active sites such as: a) an alkyne moiety for nucleophilic addition and carbopalladation; b) an active  $sp^3$  C-H for cyclization; c) a halide in position 2 of the aromatic amines and aromatic aldehyde backbones; d) a secondary amide moiety to be exploited in cyclization reaction (Scheme 3).



Scheme 3. Active sites of N-substituted-2-alkyneamides for post-Ugi-transformation reactions.

### 4. Metal-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of N-substituted-2-alkyneamides

Metal-catalyzed reactions were used as an efficient approach to access the heterocyclic backbones in the recent years. Different catalysts were used for the cyclization reactions. For example Pd and Au catalysts have a brilliant position in metal-catalyzed post-Ugi transformations. Van der Eycken published a review about metal-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation reactions.<sup>14</sup> We concentrate in this section some examples of Pd and Au catalyzed post-Ugi transformations.

### 4.1. Pd-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides

Oxindoles occupy a key place among the various classes of heterocyclic organic compounds that possess a common basic framework in natural products and pharmaceutically active compounds. 3-(Aminomethylene)-2-oxindoles have recently captured attention due to the utility of such structure in the development of biologically active compounds and new drugs as well. The small molecule hesperadin, is one notable 3-(anilinoarylmethylene)-2-oxindole that has been identified as an Aurora B kinase inhibitor, a family of mitotic serine/threonine kinases. To access these molecules, a post-Ugi transformation reaction was used and the functionalized 2-oxindoles were formed.<sup>15</sup>

The Ugi-4CR product from the reaction of arylaldehyde **2**, 2-iodoaniline **3**, phenylpropiolic acid **4**, and isocyanides **5** in MeOH, which led to *N*-substituted-2-alkynamides was chosen as an intermediate for the second step (domino Heck/Buchwald coupling reaction). In this approach, the reaction conditions were optimized using Pd(OAc)<sub>2</sub> as the catalyst, cesium carbonate as base and rac-BINAP as phosphine ligand. The *Z*-configuration of the products was established by analysis of the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectrum of compounds **7**, in particular by the signal at  $\delta$  5.98-6.08 ppm for the H-4 oxindole proton. This unusual chemical shift is related to anisotropy of phenyl ring. Also, the -NH protons are deshielded and the chemical shifts were observed at 11.86-12.13 ppm. These results were not surprising due to the intramolecular hydrogen bond that can exist between the amino group and the carbonyl group in *Z*-stereoisomer (Scheme 4).

The proposed mechanism is shown in Scheme 5. After the formation of Ugi-adduct, the domino reaction occurs through Heck carbocyclization/Buchwald coupling of intermediates  $I_1$  with aniline derivatives **6** as a domino insertion, a coupling sequence to form the 3-(anilinoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 7. According to the known Pd chemistry, the second step of the proposed mechanism is a known domino Heck/Buchwald reaction process, and the reaction procedure could be categorized respectively as follows: 1) occurrence of oxidative addition of haloarene  $I_1$  to Pd<sup>0</sup> to generate a Pd<sup>II</sup> species **A**; 2) insertion reaction to alkyne moiety and formation of intermediate **B** (carbopalladation); 3) use of aniline derivatives **6** as

nucleophiles would result in the generation of a Pd-N bond through ligand substitution, leading to the formation of a C-N linkage (intermediate C); 4) reductive elimination of C would afford the products 7 with concurrent regeneration of Pd<sup>0</sup> species. Based on the obtained results, besides *syn*-carbopalladation, *anti*-carbopalladation process also occurred. It seems that, after a *syn*-carbopalladation reaction, a *cis-trans*-isomerization takes place in the coordination sphere of the metal. Meanwhile, the *Z*-configuration of the products was confirmed using <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectroscopy with a diagnostic signal for the *Z*-isomer observed at  $\delta$  5.56-5.64 (H-4 of the oxindole). This unusual high-field shift is related to the aromatic ring current of the phenyl group (Phenyl A, compound 7). NOE experiments further confirmed the structure as the *Z*-isomer.



Scheme 4. Stereoselective synthesis of 3-(anilinoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 7.



Scheme 5. Possible mechanism for the synthesis of 3-(anilinoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 7.

Another example of post-Ugi transformation reactions is Pd-catalyzed cyclization of N-substituted-2-alkynamide  $I_2$  with secondary amines which produces 3-(aminoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles *via* sequential Ugi/Heck/Buchwald reactions.<sup>16</sup> The formation of  $I_2$  was demonstrated in a control

experiment, where the intermediate was isolated and characterized. Then, Heck carbocyclization/Buchwald coupling of intermediates  $I_2$  with secondary amines 12 as a domino insertion, coupling sequence to form the 3-(aminoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 13 occurred (Scheme 6).



Scheme 6. Stereoselective synthesis of Z-isomer 3-(aminoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 13 through sequential reactions.

The proposed reaction mechanism is shown in Scheme 7.



Scheme 7. Possible mechanism for the synthesis of 3-(aminoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 13 via 5-component sequential Ugi/Heck-carbocyclization/Buchwald reaction.

According to the known Pd chemistry, the second step of the proposed mechanism is a known domino Heck/Buchwald reaction process, and the reaction procedure could be categorized, respectively, as follows: 1) occurrence of oxidative addition of haloarene  $I_2$  to Pd<sup>0</sup> to generate a Pd<sup>II</sup> species **D**; 2) insertion reaction to alkyne moiety and formation of intermediate **E** (carbopalladation); 3) use of secondary amines **12** as

nucleophiles would result in the generation of a Pd-N bond through ligand substitution, leading to the formation of a C-N linkage (intermediate F); 4) reductive elimination of F would afford the 3-(aminoarylmethylene)-2-oxindoles 13 with concurrent regeneration of  $Pd^0$  species.

# 4.2. Six-component reaction for the stereoselective synthesis of 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles *via* sequential one-pot Ugi/Heck carbocyclization/Sonogashira/nucleophilic addition

A six-component reaction of arylaldehyde 14, 2-iodoaniline 15, phenylpropiolic acid 16, isocyanides 17, phenylacetylene 18, and secondary amines 19 was used for the synthesis of 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles 20 in MeOH in the presence of Pd catalyst in an one-pot sequence (Scheme 8). The reaction could be carried out in the presence of 5% PdCl<sub>2</sub>(PPh<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>, 10% CuI, and *N*-ethyldiisopropylamine (DIEA) as the base in MeOH. Control experiments indicate that this sequential reaction could proceed in three steps, namely: 1) Ugi-4CR to access *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides  $I_3$ ; 2) Heck carbocyclization/Sonogashira cross-coupling of *N*-(2-iodophenyl) alkynamides with phenylacetylene as a domino insertion, coupling sequence; 3) the formation of the intermediates 21 (*E*-isomer) and 22 (*Z*-isomer) and nucleophilic addition of secondary amines to activated triple bond in dihydroindolones 21 and 22 to form the 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles 20.<sup>17</sup>



Scheme 8. Ugi/Heck carbocyclization/Sonogashira/nucleophilic addition reaction sequences for the synthesis of 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles 20.

The proposed mechanism is shown in Scheme 9. The following steps show the role of Pd catalyst in the formation of 3-arylidene-2-oxindoles. The second step of the proposed mechanism is a known domino Heck/Sonogashira reaction process and the reaction procedure could be categorized, respectively: 1) oxidative addition of haloarene to  $Pd^0$  to afford intermediate G; 2) insertion reaction to alkyne moiety and formation of intermediate H (carbopalladation); 3) transmetallation with Cu and the addition of Cu phenylacetylide to intermediate H and formation of intermediate I<sub>3</sub>; 4) final reductive elimination leads to the formation of the mixture of *E*- and *Z*- isomers of dihydroindolones 21 and 22. Nucleophilic addition of the secondary amines to the electrophilic carbon center in the alkynyl moiety of the intermediate 21 or 22 would produce the zwitterionic intermediates 23 and 24. The intermediate 23 leads to product 25 which has a strong steric hindrance. As it is shown, the intermediate 23 could be converted into the intermediate 24 due to steric hindrance in the structure of 25 compared to 20. Rotation of the newly formed bond between the indole core and the allenyl moiety and subsequent tautomerization lead to stereoselective synthesis of 20. In all cases, the *Z*-isomers of compounds 20 were obtained as the only product because of the phenyl group participation.

The ratio of *E*- and *Z*-isomers for compounds **21b** and **22b** depends on the polarity of the solvent. The ratio of **21b:22b** (*E:Z*) in THF was 65:35, whereas in MeOH it was 41:59. There is a distinguished peak in the <sup>1</sup>H NMR spectra of the products. As a model compound, in the structure of compound **20** (R=*t*-Bu, Ar=Ph, **19**=morpholine), proton H-4 resonates at  $\delta$  5.49 ppm as a doublet compared to that of H-4 in compound **21b** ( $\delta$  8.49 ppm). The shielding effect for this proton is related to the ring current of aryl group. In fact, this proton lies in the diamagnetic region of the ring which could be observed for all the products **20**. Meanwhile, the structure of compound **20** (R=*t*-Bu, Ar=Ph, **19**=morpholine) was unambiguously supported by NOE experiment. It should be mentioned that the decoupling of the H-4 proton at  $\delta$  5.49 ppm does not

cause any changes in the intensity of the singlet at  $\delta$  7.74 for the olefinic proton (=CH) in the structure of **20**, and in this way, the geometry of the double bond could be confirmed (Scheme 10).



Scheme 9. Proposed mechanism for the one-pot Ugi/Heck carbocyclization/Sonogashira/nucleophilic addition reaction sequences for the synthesis of 3-arylidene-2-oxidoles 20.



Scheme 10. Reaction of benzaldehyde, 2-iodoaniline, phenylpropiolic acid, and *t*-butyl isocyanide in MeOH, selected as a model. Synthesis of *E*- and *Z*-isomers 21b and 22b.

# 4.3. Sequential Ugi-4CR/C-H activation using (diacetoxyiodo)benzene for the synthesis of 3-(diphenylmethylidene)-2,3-dihydro-1*H*-indol-2-ones

sequential Ugi-4CR/C-H activation reaction А was used to access 3-(diphenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones. The reaction was done using Pd catalyst in the presence of PhI as source of Ph group. However, the desired 3-(diphenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones as sole products were formed by use of benzaldehydes bearing electron-donating groups (R<sup>1</sup>=EDG), while with benzaldehydes which contained electron-withdrawing  $(R^1 = EWG)$ the groups products were 3-(phenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones instead (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Synthesis of 3-(diphenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones and 3-(phenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones through C-H activation.

Diacetoxy-iodobenzene (DIB) **31** and DIEA as the base in toluene under reflux was used in a sequential Ugi/C-H activation reaction as a source of the phenyl group for the synthesis of 3-(phenylmethylene)indolin-2-ones **32**, without obtaining 3-(phenylmethylidene)-2-oxindoles as byproduct, by reaction of arylaldehyde **26**, substituted anilines **27**, phenylpropiolic acid **28**, and isocyanides **29** through formation of Ugi adduct **30** (Scheme 11).<sup>18b</sup>



Scheme 11. Use of DIB 31 in sequential Ugi/C-H activation for the synthesis of 3-(diphenylmethylene)indolin-2-ones 32.

The reported reaction is a model of sequential Ugi/C-H activation reaction. The proposed reaction mechanism based on the sequential reaction is as follows: after formation of Ugi-4CR product **30** (path a, Scheme 12), insertion of Pd<sup>II</sup> to **30** (path b) to give **33**, and oxidation of Pd<sup>II</sup> to Pd<sup>IV</sup> and complexation of Pd<sup>IV</sup> with N of the aniline part leads to intermediate **34**. The key step for the formation of **34** is related to the conversion of DIB to PhI through reduction of **1**<sup>III</sup> to **1**<sup>I</sup> (path c). Then  $C(sp^2)$ -H activation leads to the formation of C-Pd bond (path d). Carbopalladation of **35** results in the formation of intermediate **36** (path e). Insertion of PhI (path f) and, finally reductive elimination leads to the formation of the desired 3-(diphenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones **32**.

Van der Eycken reported the synthesis of spiro[indoline-3,2-pyrrole]-2,5-diones 42 through Pd-catalyzed post-Ugi cascade reaction of arylaldehydes 37, propiolic acids 38, substituted amines 39, and isocyanides 40.<sup>19</sup> The Ugi adduct 41 contained alkyne moiety and then, after Buchwald-Hartwig/Michael addition reaction sequence, the desired spiro product was formed 42. The type of phosphine ligand had an

essential role in the progress of the reaction. The best results were obtained using Xantphos as ligand (Scheme 13).



Scheme 12. Proposed mechanism for the formation of 3-(diphenylmethylidene)indolin-2-ones 32.



Scheme 13. Using post-Ugi domino Buchwald-Hartwig/Michael reaction to afford functionalized spiro[indoline-3,2'-pyrrole]-2,5'-diones 42.

### 5. Au-catalyzed post-Ugi transformation of functionalized *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides

Au-catalyzed cyclizations of alkynes offer new pathways for the synthesis of different heterocyclic backbones. Meanwhile, the soft Lewis acidity of cationic Au<sup>I</sup> species towards alkynes leads to diverse transformations and formation of new heterocycles and in some cases polycyclic compounds (Figure 3).<sup>20a</sup>



Figure 3. Reaction pathways for C-C and C-Y cyclization of alkyne.

Van der Eycken is a pioneer for the Au-catalyzed Ugi-4CR of functionalized *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides and the results of his work was published in several papers and reviews.<sup>20b</sup>

Compound 47 was formed through the Ugi-4CR of indole-3-carboxaldehyde 43, propiolic acid 44, primary amine derivatives 45 and isocyanides 46. The reaction of Ugi-4CR product 47 with Au(PPh<sub>3</sub>)SbF<sub>6</sub> (5%) afforded the fused polycyclic system with high diastereoselectivity. This is the first report of the synthesis of spiroindolines 48 (Figure 4).<sup>21</sup>



In the proposed reaction mechanism, the observed diastereoselectivity of the reaction was explained. (Scheme 14). First the activation of the triple bond by cationic Au occurs to give J, then nucleophilic addition of activated alkyne from two sides takes place through *exo-dig* attack from the indole core at the 3-position to form intermediates K and L. Due to the direction of nucleophilic attack, the diastereoselective synthesis of spiroindoline 48 is possible.

Van der Eycken reported a diversity-oriented diastereoselctive synthesis of complex tetracyclic benzo[e]pyrrolo[2,3-c]indole-2,4,7(5H)-triones through a post-Ugi Au<sup>I</sup>-catalyzed domino dearomatization/*ipso*-cyclization/aza-Michael sequence (Scheme 15).<sup>22</sup> In the proposed reaction mechanism the allower mainter in the proposed reaction mechanism t

In the proposed reaction mechanism, the alkyne moiety is activated by cationic  $Au^{l}$ , followed by nucleophilic attack at C-4 of naphthol in a 5-*exo-dig* fashion. Then the nucleophilic addition of amide to activated double bond generates the tetracyclic scaffold (Scheme 16).

In another experiment, Van der Eycken carried out the Ugi-4CR of arylaldehyde **49** with propargyl amine **50**, 4,4-dimethylpentynoic acid **51** and isocyanides **52** in methanol at rt to give the corresponding *N*-propynylbutynamide **53**. Its reaction with 5 mol% of *i*-PrAuNTf<sub>2</sub> ([1,3-Bis(2,6-diisopropylphenyl)imidazol-2-ylidene] [bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)imide]gold(I)) in CDCl<sub>3</sub> at 80 °C for 24 h, led to the major product **54** *via* intramolecular nucleophilic attack of the  $\beta$ -carbon of the Au acetylide on the  $\beta$ -carbon of the butynamide, followed by a second cyclization<sup>23</sup> (Scheme 17).



478

PMB=p-Methoxybenzyl

Scheme 14. Proposed mechanism for the diastereoselective domino cyclization to spiroindolines 48.



 $R^{1}$ = *n*-Bu, *p*-Xylyl, 3,4-Dimethylbenzaldehyde, Piperonyl butoxide, Ph, *p*-Methoxybenzyl, *p*-Fluorobenzyl  $R^{2}$ = Me, Et, *n*-Pr

R<sup>3</sup>= t-Bu, n-Bu, 2-(1,8-naphthyridin-2-yl)-Phenol, Bn, cyclohexyl

Scheme 15. Au-catalyzed cyclization for fused azaspiro tetracycles.



Scheme 16. Proposed mechanism for the Au-catalyzed diastereoselective domino cyclization.

This is an example of *i*-PrAuCl (Chloro[1,3-bis(2,6-diisopropylphenyl)imidazol-2ylidene]gold(I))/AgOTf efficiently catalyzed regioselective cascade cyclization of *N*-propynylbutynamide *via* sp<sup>3</sup> C-H functionalization for the synthesis of (spiro)cyclopentapyridinones (Scheme18). In the proposed reaction mechanism, the first step is the transformation of **53** into Au acetylide I<sub>5</sub> which, upon  $\pi$ -activation of the butynamide II<sub>1</sub>, directs the *6-endo-dig*-cyclization, resulting in the formation of the Au-vinylidene



R= cyclohexyl, t-Bu, Bn, 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine

Scheme 17. The Au-catalyzed tandem cyclization via sp<sup>3</sup> C-H activation to give 54.



Scheme 18. Plausible mechanism for Au-catalyzed tandem cyclization.

Another post-Ugi reaction is combination of Ugi-4CR with hydoxyarylation reaction. Van der Eycken reported the Ugi-4CR of 2-(1*H*-pyrrol-1-yl)benzaldehyde **55**, *p*-methoxybenzylamine **56**, 2-butynoic acid **57**, and *t*-butyl isocyanide **58** in methanol at room temperature.<sup>24</sup> Then, the Ugi adduct **59** was reacted with 10 mol% Au(PPh<sub>3</sub>)OTf to give the desired benzo[*b*]pyrrolo[2,1-*i*][1,5]diazonin-7(6*H*)-one **60** (Scheme 19). In the proposed mechanism, after alkyne activation by cationic Au, nucleophilic attack from the C-2 position of the pyrrole through *endo-dig* fashion occurred and finally the desired product was formed.

Recently, Van der Eycken has designed an Ugi-4CR using 2-aminophenole derivative and their post-Ugi transformation using Au catalyst to afford a diastereoselective synthesis of spirocyclic pyrrole-2-one-dienones through *ipso*-cyclization.<sup>25</sup> The use of 2-formylpyrrole in Ugi-4CR could provide its potentiality for further reaction. The Ugi-4CR of 2-formylpyrrole **61**, primary amine **62**, alkynoic acid **63**, and isocyanide **64** in methanol at 50 °C gives Ugi adducts **65**. The reaction of Ugi adduct with Au(PPh<sub>3</sub>)OTf in chloroform at 50 °C for three hours leads to the corresponding pyrrolopyridinones through *exo-dig* cyclization of the pyrrole on the internal alkyne **66**. The synthesis of isomer **67** through *endo-dig* cyclization as major product is possible changing the reaction conditions, as summarized in Scheme 20.<sup>26</sup>



Scheme 19. Synthesis of 60 by intramolecular hydroarylation of *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamide using Au catalyst.



Scheme 20. Regioselective synthesis of pyrrolopyridinones 66 and pyrroloazepinones 67 *via* post-Ugi Au<sup>1</sup>-catalyzed intramolecular hydroarylation.

The same reaction conditions were used with 2-formylindoles and the fused pyrroloazepinones were formed. This approach was used for other formyl heterocyclic skeletons such as 2-thiophene caraldehyde, 2-formylthiophene and N-alkyl-2-formylpyrrole. This allows a diversity-oriented synthesis of substituted pyrrolopyridinones, pyrroloazepinones, thiophenoazepinones, azepinoindoles, and azepinobenzothiophenes.<sup>26</sup>

Van der Eycken designed a post-Ugi Cu-catalyzed tandem azide-alkyne cycloaddition (AAC)/Ullmann coupling strategy for the synthesis of triazolo[1,5-a][1,4]benzodiazepinones. To access this goal 2-bromo-benzaldehyde **68**, 4-methoxybenzylamine **69**, arylpropionic acids **70** and *t*-butyl isocyanide **71** were used as starting materials in Ugi-4CR **72**. Then, the intramolecular trapping of the N-Cu intermediate formed by the CuAAC and Ulmann coupling give rise to **73** with sodium azide (Scheme 21).<sup>27</sup>



Scheme 21. The tandem AAC/Ullmann approach towards triazolo[1,5-a][1,4]benzodiazepinones 73.

The plausible mechanism for the Cu-catalyzed tandem reaction is depicted in Scheme 22. The reaction of Ugi-4CR adduct 72 with sodium azide through [3+2]-cycloaddition forms intermediate M that contains a

N-Cu bond. Then, insertion of Cu into the aryl halide bond leads to intermediate N, and the final Cu elimination leads to the formation of triazolo[1,5-a][1,4]benzodiazepinone 73.



Scheme 22. A plausible mechanism for the Cu-catalyzed tandem formation of 72 and 73.

# 6. Metal-free post-Ugi transformation of functionalized N-substituted-2-alkyneamides to access heterocycles

In recent years, some functionalized N-substituted-2-alkynamides were used for further posttransformation reactions such as nucleophilic addition or cyclization using suitable starting materials and Pd or Au catalysts. Meanwhile, Pd catalyst was used for the transition-metal catalyzed cycloisomerization of alkynyl N-acyl enamines to access lactams.<sup>28</sup> Zhang et al. reported a highly enantioselective cycloisomerization approach to access functionalized lactams using Rh-based catalysts.<sup>29</sup> Due to the biological activities of lactams,<sup>30</sup> finding new methods that allow the formation of C-N bond and the stereoselective generation of functionalized lactams is an interesting subject in organic synthesis.<sup>31</sup> Ugi-4CR has been reported for the synthesis of  $\beta$ -lactams and the use of functionalized starting materials has an important role in cyclization reaction process.<sup>32</sup> We developed a metal-free cyclization through sequential Ugi-4CR/cyclization reaction for the synthesis of functionalized β-lactams and pyrrolidine-2,5-diones (Scheme 23).<sup>33</sup> Ugi-4CR between benzaldehyde derivatives 74, aniline derivatives 75, phenyl propiolic acid 76 and isocyanides 77 was done and product 78 was formed. The N-substituted 2-alkynamides were precipitated and separated. Then they were treated with different bases and solvents. Potassium carbonate (K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>) was the most effective base to provide cyclization products compared to other bases. Carrying out the reaction in acetonitrile led to the synthesis of  $\beta$ -lactam 79, while in methanol the only product was pyrrolidine-2,5-dione 80. In all cases, the  $\beta$ -lactam skeleton with some functional groups was produced in good to high yields. A significant point in formation of  $\beta$ -lactams is the *E*-geometry for double bond in all cases. It seems that the secondary interaction ( $\pi$ - $\pi$  stacking) could affect the geometry of formed  $\beta$ -lactams. In the structure of functionalized N-substituted 2-alkynamides 78, there are two amide moieties, a triple bond and also a C-H bond. The C-H bond has an acidic character. It can be deprotonated using a suitable base and form the carbanion which in turn could be added to the triple bond through intramolecular nucleophilic addition.

A plausible mechanism for these cyclization reactions is depicted in Scheme 24. The reactions proceed *via* the formation of intermediate **78** through Ugi-4CR. There are two feasible pathways from **78** in different solvents. Initially, the carbanion is formed by treatment with the base. It is reasonable to assume that the intramolecular nucleophilic addition of carbanion to triple bond in Ugi product **78**, forms the  $\beta$ -lactam **79** skeleton in both solvents. But, it can act as an intermediate in MeOH and the attack of methoxide to the carbonyl group in  $\beta$ -lactam skeleton takes place immediately to afford regioselectively pyrrolidine-2,5-dione **80**.



Scheme 24. Plausible mechanism for the formation of  $\beta$ -lactam 79 and pyrrolidine-2,5-dione 80 in methanol.

# 6.1. Post-Ugi transformation through radical formation

Among the recently synthetized azaspirocycle-containing compounds, azaspiro[4.5]trienones have attracted the attention due to their chemistry and their biological activities.<sup>34</sup>

482

Recently, and in the light of the intense interest to develop constrained tamoxifen mimics, Srivastava *et al.* reported azaspiro[4.5]trienones as novel scaffolds for anticancer drug development.<sup>35</sup> Furthermore, these compounds also serve as valuable intermediates for the construction of azaspirofused tricyclic cores with promising anticancer activity by inducing DNA damage in cancer cells.

In light of these findings and as a result of our interest in combination of the Ugi-4CR with an efficient post-transformation for generating complex and diverse molecular libraries, Ugi-4CR/*ipso*-bromocyclization was used for the synthesis of fully functionalized 3-bromoazaspiro[4.5]trienones **87** through the radical cyclization and metal-free reaction of arylaldehydes **81**, aniline derivatives **82**, phenylpropiolic acid **83**, and isocyanides **84** (Scheme 25).<sup>36</sup> The corresponding Ugi adduct **85** was formed in good to high yields. The use of  $(NH_4)_2S_2O_8/t$ -butyl hydroperoxide (TBHP) (3 eq/5 eq) **86** as the oxidant in the presence of *N*-methylmorpholine (NMM, 0.5 eq) in acetonitrile at 80 °C under argon atmosphere produced the desired spiro compounds. Between different radical initiators, TBHP was found to be the best, while switching to 2,6-di-*t*-butyl-4-pyridine, *t*-butyl-4-pyridine, and *m*-chloroperoxybenzoic acid failed to give satisfactory yields.



The proposed reaction mechanism involves the formation of vinyl radical  $I_6$  through the addition of bromo radical generated from *N*-bromosuccinimide (NBS) and (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>S<sub>2</sub>O<sub>8</sub> to the alkyne group of the Ugi product. Subsequent intramolecular radical cyclization yields the intermediate  $II_2$ . Trapping of the radical intermediate  $II_2$  by the *t*-butylperoxy radical generated from TBHP, and the following of *t*-butyl alcohol provides the desired product (Scheme 26).

In this approach, a diverse array of fully functionalized 3-bromoazaspiro[4.5]trienones has been prepared through Ugi-4CR followed by *ipso*-bromocyclization.

### 6.2. Metal-free synthesis of fused triazolodiazepino[5,6-*b*]quinoline derivatives *via* a sequential Ugi-4CR/nucleophilic substitution/intramolecular click reaction

2-Chloro-3-formylquinoline was used as functionalized aldehyde to carry out Ugi-4CR and its reaction with propiolic acids, primary amines and isocyanides led to desired *N*-substituted-2-alkyneamides. These compounds are suitable for post-Ugi transformation reactions. This approach was used in a one-pot catalyst-free strategy for the construction of quinoline/triazole/diazepinone-fused skeletons. The initial investigations were centered on the construction of quinoline fused diazepinons 94 *via* Ugi-4CR of 2-chloro-3-formylquinoline 88, primary amine 89, propiolic acid derivative 90, and isocyanide 91 in methanol at room temperature for 24 hours as the model reaction. Treatment of 92 with sodium azide 93, afforded 94, through a reaction that could be categorized as Ugi/1,3-dipolar cycloaddition/cyclization (Scheme 27).<sup>37</sup>

The proposed mechanism for the production of compound **94** is shown in Scheme 28. At first, the Ugi adducts **92** were formed. Then, two possible mechanistic pathways can be considered for the synthesis of products **94**. Route A includes the nucleophilic addition of sodium azide to the Ugi adducts **92** and formation of intermediate  $I_7$ , which is in equilibrium with intermediate  $I_{13}$ .<sup>38</sup> Further intramolecular click reactions

between the azide group and the alkyne group of intermediate  $I_7$  results in the production of the desired products. Route B involves the click reaction between alkyne moiety of Ugi adduct 92 with azide group and formation of triazole containing intermediate III<sub>3</sub>. Subsequently, the intramolecular nucleophilic addition of the triazole ring will lead to the desired products 92.



Scheme 26. The proposed reaction mechanism for the synthesis of 3-bromoazaspiro[4.5]trienones 87.



In continuation of our efforts to adapt post-transformation reactions to a high-throughput format, diastereoselective synthesis of diketopiperazines **102** through the post-Ugi transformation/cyclization/oxidative Heck reaction sequence was explored (Scheme 29).<sup>39</sup> In the first step, Ugi-4CR product was formed through the reaction of arylaldehydes **95**, aniline derivatives **96**, isocyanides

**97**, and propiolic acid derivatives **98**. The *N*-substituted-2-alkynamide **99** was precipitated and separated. The reaction of compounds **99** with a catalytic amount of triphenylphosphine in ethanol led to desired diketopiperazines **100** (Schemes 29 and 30). The 2,5-diketopiperazines **100** have a methylidene group that has a very good potential for C-C bond formation. Transition metal-catalyzed cross-couplings such as Heck and Suzuki reactions have been used for the formation of C-C bond. Meanwhile, the regioselectivity of the Heck reaction is the main point which must be considered in planning synthetic routes.<sup>40-41</sup>



Scheme 28. Proposed mechanism for the synthesis of triazolodiazepino[5,6-b]quinoline derivatives 94.



R<sup>1</sup>= cyclohexyl, CH<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>2</sub>Et, *t*-Bu

Ar<sup>1</sup>= 4-Bromophenyl, Ph, 4-Chlorophenyl, 4-Methoxyphenyl, 4-Cyanophenyl, Thiophene

Ar2= 4-Fluorophenyl, Ph, 2-Bromophenyl, 2-lodophenyl

Ar<sup>3</sup>= Ph, 4-t-Butylphenyl

Scheme 29. Designed post-transformation approach for the synthesis of arylidene-2,5-diketopiperazines 102.



Scheme 30. Proposed mechanism for the synthesis of 2,5-diketopiperazines 100 through triphenylphosphine catalyzed nucleophilic addition to alkynes.

Oxidative Heck reaction conditions were selected first. To access this goal, the reaction of diketopiperazines **100** ( $R^1$ =cyclohexyl,  $Ar^1$ =p-Me-C<sub>6</sub>H<sub>4</sub>,  $Ar^2$ =Ph ) with arylboronic acid **101** in the presence of Pd acetate (20%), phenanthroline (20%) **103** and air as oxidant was studied in DMF solvent at 80 °C.

Arylmethylidene Z-diketopiperazines **102** were formed diastereoselectively. By contrast the reaction, leading to the same product, but performed under Heck conditions did not work and we were unable to isolate **102** (Scheme 31).



Scheme 31. Difference between Mizoroki-Heck and oxidative Heck reactions.

### 7. Conclusion

In conclusion, post-Ugi transformation are known as an efficient approach in heterocycle synthesis. The synthesis of diverse functionalized heterocyclic backbones are possible through the selection of starting material that contained alkyne moiety. The alkyne cyclization could be done using metal-catalyzed such as Pd and Au catalysts, metal-free conditions using bases or conditions involving the formation of a radical. A study to find other active functional groups such as allenes to design novel post-Ugi transformation is in progress in our laboratory.

### Acknowledgements

We thank the National Institute for Medical Research Development (NIMAD, Project No. 963388) and Alexander von Humboldt Foundation for a research fellowship and for financial support. S. B. thanks all the students who have contributed to the work presented in this account.

### References

- 1. Gilmore, K.; Alabugin, I.V. Chem. Rev. 2011, 111, 6513-6556.
- a) Godoi, B.; Schumacher, R. F.; Zeni, G. Chem. Rev. 2011, 111, 2937-2980. b) Kita, Y.; Yata, T.; Nishimoto, Y.; Chiba, K.; Yasuda, M. Chem. Sci. 2018, 9, 6041-6052. c) Aggarwal, T.; Kumar, S.; Verma, A. K. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2016, 14, 7639-7653.d) Trost, B. M.; Li, C-J. Modern Alkyne Chemistry: Catalytic and Atom-Economic Transformations, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2014 e) Stang, P.; Diederich, F. Modern Acetylene Chemistry, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2007.
- a) Dömling, A. In Multicomponent Reactions; Zhu, J., Bienaymé, H., Eds.; Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2005; 76-95. b) Tietze, L. F.; Brasche, G.; Gericke, K. M. Domino Reactions in Organic Synthesis; Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2006. 542-565. c) Dömling, A.; Ugi, I. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2000, 39, 3168-3210. d) Dömling, A. Chem. Rev. 2006, 106, 17-89. e) T. J. J. Müller, Ed. Science of Synthesis Multicomponent Reactions I; George Thieme Publisher, Stuttgart, 2014. f) Zhu, J.; Wang, Q.; Wang, M.; Eds. Multicomponent Reactions in Organic Synthesis, Wiley-VCH, Weinheim, 2014. g) R. P. Herrera, E. Marqués-López, Eds. Multicomponent Reactions, John Wiley, New York, 2015.
- a) Orru, R. V.; Ruijter, E. Eds. Synthesis of Heterocycles via Multicomponent Reactions I, Springer, Berlin, 2010. b) Orru, R. V.; Ruijter, E. Eds. Synthesis of Heterocycles via Multicomponent Reactions II, Springer, Berlin, 2010. c) Dömling, A.; Wang, W.; Wang, K. Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 3083-3135. d) Cioc, R. C.; Ruijter, E.; Orru, R. V. A. Green Chem. 2014, 16, 2958-2975.
- a) Ruijter, E.; Scheffelaar, R.; Orru. R. V. A. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 6234-6246. b) Ruijter, E.; Orru, R. V. A. Synlett 2013, 24, 666–685.
- a) Zidan. A.; Garrec, J.; Cordier, M.; El-Naggar, A. M.; E. Abd El-Sattar, N. E.; Khalil Ali, A.; Ali Hassan, M.; El Kaim, L. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2017, *56*, 12179-12183. b) Zidan, A.; Cordier, M.; El-Naggar, A. M.; Abd El-Sattar, N. E.; Hassan, M. A.; Ali, A. K.; El Kaim, L. *Org. Lett.* 2018, *20*, 2568-2571.
- 7. Koopmanschap, G.; Ruijter, E.; Orru, R. V. A. Beilstein J. Org. Chem. 2014, 10, 544-598.

- a) Hay, L. A.; Koenig, T. M.; Gina, F. O.; Copp, J. D.; Mitcel, D. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5050-5058. b) Yanada, R.; Obika, S.; Oyama, M.; Takemoto, Y. Org. Lett. 2004, 6, 2825-2828. c) Yanada, R.; Obika, S.; Inokuma, T.; Yanada, K.; Yamashita, M.; Ohta, S.; Takemoto, Y. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 6972-6975. d) Cheung, W. S.; Patch, R. J.; Player, M. R. J. Org. Chem. 2005, 70, 3741-3744. e) Pinto, A.; Neuville, L.; Retailleau, P.; Zhu, J. Org. Lett. 2006, 8, 4927-4930. f) Dai, W. M.; Shi, J.; Wu, J. Synlett 2008, 2008, 2716-2720. g) Vieth, M.; Cummins, D. J. J. Med. Chem. 2000, 43, 3020-3032. h) Yanada, R.; Obika, S.; Kobayashi, Y.; Inokuma, T.; Oyama, M.; Yanada, K.; Takemoto, Y. Adv. Synth. Catal. 2005, 347, 1632-1642. i) Arthuis, M.; Pontikis, R.; Florent, J.-C. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 6397-6401. j) Mag, L. A.; Koenig, T. M.; Ginah, F. O.; Copp, J. D.; Mitchel, D. J. Org. Chem. 1998, 63, 5050-5058. k) Plastina, P.; Salerno, G.; Mancuso, R. Synthesis 2006, 2006, 4247-4253. l) Patra, R.; Maiti, S. B.; Chatterjee, A.; Chakravarty, A. K. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 1363-1366. m) Kraft, M. E.; Romero, R. H.; Scott, I. L. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 5, 5277-5278. n) Krafft, M. E.; Wright, J. A.; Bonaga, L. V. R.; Can. J. Chem. 2005, 83, 1006-1016.
- 9. a) Bararjanian, M.; Balalaie, S.; Movassagh, B.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. Tetrahedron Lett. 2010, 51, 3277-3279.
- 10. Balalaie, S.; Kassaee, M.; Bijanzadeh, H. R.; Darvish, F.; Bararjanian, M.; Jalaiyan, F. J. Iran. Chem. Soc. 2014, 111, 1483-1492.
- 11. Bararjanian, M.; Balalaie, S.; Movassagh, B.; Rominger, F.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. Molec. Divers. 2011, 15, 583-594.
- Maghari, S.; Ramezanpour, S.; Balalaie, S.; Darvish, F.; Rominger, F.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 78, 6450-6456.
- 13. a) Sunderhaus, J. D.; Martin, S. F. Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 1300-1308. b) Hulme, C.; Dietrich, J. Mol. Diversity. 2009, 13, 195-207. c) Banfi, L.; Riva, R.; Basso, A. Synlett. 2010, 2010, 23-41. d) Li, Y.; Lei, J.; Chen, Z.-Z.; Tang, D.-Y.; Yuan, H.; Wang, M.; Zhu, J.; Xu, Z.-G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 2016, 5770-5776. e) Cheng, G.; He, X.; Tian, L.; Chen, J.; Li, C.; Jia, X.; Li, J. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 80, 11100-11107. f) Vachhani, D. D.; Kumar, A.; Modha, S. G.; Sharma, S. K.; Parmar, V. S.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2013, 2013, 1223-1227. g) Xie, H.; Liu, J.-C.; Ding, M.-W. Synthesis 2016, 48, 4541-4547. h) Yan, Y.-M.; Rao, Y.; Ding, M.-W. J. Org. Chem. 2016, 81, 1263-1268. i) Sharma, N.; Li, Z.; Sharma, U.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 3884-3887. j) Li, Z.; Sharma, U. K.; Liu, Z.; Sharma, N., Harvey, J. N.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2015, 3957-3962. k) Ramanivas, T.; Parameshwar, M.; Gayatri, G.; Nanubolu, J. B.; Srivastava, A. K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 2245-2257. 1) Vachhani, D. D.; Kumar, A.; Modha, S. G.; Sharma, S. K.; Parmar, V. S.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Synthesis 2015, 47, 1337-1347. m) Yugandhar, D.; Kuriakose, S.; Nanubolu, J. B.; Srivastava, A. K. Org. Lett. 2016, 18, 1040-104. n) Moni, L.; Gers-Panther, C. F.; Anselmo, M.; Müller, T. J. J.; Riva, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2016, 22, 2020-2031. o) Moni, L.; Denißen, M.; Valentini, G.; Müller, T. J. J.; Riva, R. Chem. Eur. J. 2015, 21, 753-762. p) Wright, D. L.; Robotham, C. V.; Aboud, K. Tetrahedron Lett. 2002, 43, 943-946, q) Paulvannan, K. J. Org. Chem. 2004, 69, 1207-1214. r) Huang, J.; Du, X.; Van Hecke, K.; Van der Eycken, E. V.; Pereshivko, O. P.; Peshkov, V. A. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 2017, 4379-4388.
- Sharma, K. U.; Sharma, N ; Vachhani , D. D.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2015, 44, 1836-1860.
- 15. Bararjanian, M.; Hosseinzadeh, S.; Balalaie, S.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. Tetrahedron 2011, 67, 2644-2650.
- Bararjanian, M.; Hosseinzadeh, S.; Balalaie, S.; Bijanzadeh, H. R.; Wolf. E. Tetrahedron 2011, 26, 3329-3332.
- Bararjanian, M.; ; Balalaie, S.; Rominger, F.; Movassagh, B.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. J. Org. Chem. 2010, 75, 2806-2812.
- a) Balalaie, S.; Motaghedi, H.; Bararjanian, M.; Tahmassebi, D.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. *Tetrahedron* 2011, 67, 9134-9141. b) Ghabraie, E.; Balalaie, S. *Helv. Chim. Acta.* 2014, 97, 1555-1563.
- 19. Sharma, N.; Li, Z.; Sharma, U. K.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Org. Lett. 2014, 16, 3884-3887.
- a) Kumar, A.; Singh, S., Sharma, S. K., Parmar, V. S., Van der Eycken, E. V. *The Chemical Record.* 2016, *16*, 73-83. b) Sharma, U. K., Tian, G., Voskressensky, L. G., Van der Eycken, E. V. *Drug Dis. Today Tech.* 2018. Doi: 10.1016/j.ddtec.2018.08.003.

- Modha, G. S.; Kumar, A.; Vachhani, D.; Jacobs, J.; Sharma, K. S.; Parmar, V. S.; Meervelt, L. V.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 9572-9575.
- 22. He, Y.; Li, Z.; Tian, G.; Song, L.; Meervelt, L. V.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Chem. Commun. 2017, 53, 6413-6416.
- Vachhani, D. D.; Galli, M.; Jacobs, J.; Meervelt, L. V.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Chem. Commun. 2013, 49, 7171-7173.
- Li, Z.; Kumar, A.; Vachhani, D. D.; Sharma, S. K.; Parmar, V. S.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2014, 2014, 2084-2091.
- Nechaev, A. A.; Van Hecke, K.; Zaman, M.; Kashtanov, S.; Ungur, L.; Pereshivko, O. P.; Peshkov, V. A.; Van der Eycken, E. V. J. Org. Chem. 2018, 83, 8170-8182.
- Kumar, A.; Vachhani, D. D.; Modha, S. G.; Sharma, S. K.; Parmar, V. S; Van der Eycken, E. V. Synthesis, 2013, 45, 2571-2582.
- Vachhani, D. D.; Kumar, A.; Modha, S. G.; Sharma, S. K.; Parmar, V. S.; Van der Eycken, E. V. Eur. J. Org. Chem., 2013, 2013, 1223-1227.
- 28. Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P. Acc. Chem. Res. 2014, 47, 939-952.
- 29. Lei, A.; Waldkirch, J. P.; He, M.; Zhang, X. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 4526-4529.
- a) Konno, K.; Hashimoto, K.; Ohfune, Y.; Shirihama, H.; Matsumoto, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1988, 110, 4807-4815. b) Garst, M. E.; Dolby, L. J.; Esfandiari, S.; Fedoruk, N. C.; Chamberlain, N. C.; Avey, A. A. J. Org. Chem. 2000, 65, 7098-7104. c) Fisher, J. F.; Meroveh, S. O. Mobashery, S. Chem. Rev. 2005, 105, 395-424. d) Alcaide, B.; Almendros, P.; Aragoncillo, C. Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 4437-4492. e) Szostak, M.; Aubé, J.; Chem. Rev. 2013, 113, 5701-5765. f) Pitts, C. R.; Lectka, T. Chem. Rev. 2014, 114, 7930-7953.
- a) Leadbeater, N. E.; Marco, M.; Tominack, B. J. Org. Lett. 2003, 5, 3919-3922. b) Leadbeater, N. E.; Marco, M.; Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2003, 42, 1407-1409. c) Kwok, S. W.; Fotsing, J. R.; Fraser, R. J.; Rodionov, V. O.; Fokin, V. V. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 4217-4219. d) Rueping, M.; Parra, A. Org. Lett. 2010, 12, 5281. e) Thomé, I.; Bolm, C. Org. Lett. 2012, 14, 1892-1895.
- 32. a) Bossio, R.; Marcos, C. F.; Marcaccini, S.; Pepino, R. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1997**, *38*, 2519-2520. b) Fayol, A.; Zhu, J. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Ed.* **2002**, *41*, 3633-3635.
- 33. Ghabraie, E.; Balalaie, S.; Mehrparvar, S.; Rominger, F. J. Org. Chem. 2014, 79, 7926-7934.
- Likhar, P. R.; Subhas, M. S.; Roy, S.; Kantam, M. L.; Sridhar, B.; Seth, R. K.; Biswas, S . Org. Biomol. Chem., 2009, 7, 85-93.
- Yugandhar, D.; Nayak, V. L.; Archana, S.; Shekar, K. C.; Srivastava, A. K. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 2015, 101, 348-357.
- Balalaie, S.; Ghoroghaghaei, H. B.; Alavijeh, N. S.; Darvish, F.; Rominger, F.; Bijanzadeh, H. R.; SynOpen 2018, 2, 222-228.
- 37. Balalaie, S., Vaezghaemi, A., Zarezadeh, N., Rominger, F. and Bijanzadeh, H. R. Synlett 2018, 29, 1095-1101.
- Thomann, A.; Zapp, J.; Hutter, M.; Empting, M.; Hartmann, R. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2015, 13, 10620-10630.
- Balalaie, S.; Ramezani Kejani, R.; Ghabraie, E., Darvish, F.; Rominger, F.; Hamdan, F.; Bijanzadeh, H. R. J. Org. Chem. 2017, 82, 12141-12152.
- a) Anastasia, L.; Negishi, E.-I. Handbook of Organopalladium Chemistry for Organic Synthesis, Negishi, E.I, Ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, 2002. b) Khoobi, M.; Alipour, M.; Zarei, S.; Jafarpour, F.; Shafiee, A. Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 2985-2987. c) Li, Y.; Qi, Z.; Wang, H.; Fu, X.; Duan, C. J. Org. Chem. 2012, 77, 2053-2057. d) Kozhushkov, S. I.; Ackermann, L. Chem. Sci. 2013, 4, 886-896. e) Engle, K. M.; Mei, T.-S.; Wasa, M.; Yu, J.-Q. Acc. Chem. Res. 2012, 45, 788-802. f) Kuhl, N.; Hopkinson, M. N.; Wencel-Delord, J.; Glorius, F. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 10236-10254. g) Arockiam, P. B.; Bruneau, C.; Dixneuf, P. H. Chem. Rev. 2012, 112, 5879-5918. h) White, M. C. Synlett 2012, 23, 2746-2748. i) Wencel-Delord, J.; Droge, T.; Liu, F.; Glorius, F. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2011, 40, 4740-4761. j) Stokes, B. J.; Driver, T. G. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2011, 2011, 4071-4088. k) Newhouse, T.; Baran, P. S. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 3362-3374. l) Schnurch, M.; Dastbaravardeh, N.; Ghobrial, M.; Mrozek, B.; Mihovilovic, M. D. Curr. Org. Chem. 2011, 15, 2694-2730. m) Cho, S. H.;

Kim, J. Y.; Kwak, J.; Chang, S. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2011, 40, 5068-5083. n) Colby, D. A.; Bergman, R. G.; Ellman, J. A. Chem. Rev. 2010, 110, 624-655.

a) Karimi, B.; Behzadnia, H.; Elhamifar, D.; Akhavan, P. F.; Esfahani, F. K.; Zamani, A. Synthesis 2010, 2010, 1399-1427. b) Yoo, K. S.; Yoon, C. H.; Jung, K. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2006, 128, 16384-16393. c) Penn, L.; Shpruhman, A.; Gelman, D. J. Org. Chem. 2007, 72, 3875-3879. d) Lee, A.-L. Org. Biomol. Chem. 2016, 14, 5357-5356.